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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE, NW 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036 
(202) 588-0302 

 
 
 
 

November 15, 2006 
 

By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas W. Abrams, R.Ph., MBA 
Director 
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  NDA # 20-014 
 Maxair™ Autohaler™ (pirbuterol acetate inhalation aerosol) 
 MACMIS ID # 14551 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On October 19, 2006, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent a warning letter to 3M Pharmaceuticals (3M) alleging that a flashcard (AH-
7090) for Maxair™ Autohaler™ (pirbuterol acetate inhalation aerosol) (Maxair Autohaler) 
misbranded the drug in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) and 321(n).  For the reasons discussed 
below, WLF requests that DDMAC withdraw the letter and initiate a comprehensive review of 
its policies and procedures governing prescription drug promotion. 
 
Erroneous Allegation of Omission of Risk Information 
 
DDMAC declares the flashcard misleading because it omits risk information and the drug’s 
indication.  This assertion is problematic for two reasons.  First, the flashcard is not intended to 
be left with physicians.  It clearly says, “Not to be left with the physician.  Please see full 
prescribing information.”  The flashcard is intended for use during meetings between field 
personnel and physicians.  Consistent with the policies of virtually all pharmaceutical companies, 
these personnel likely leave copies of the prescribing information behind, including the very 
information DDMAC claims is lacking.  The audience for the flashcard therefore had immediate 
access to all of the information DDMAC alleges is omitted, and that information was presented 
in precisely the manner dictated by FDA.  DDMAC’s contention that this presentation of risk 
information is insufficient simply ignores the intended purpose of the flashcard.   
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Second DDMAC’s position that the “creative” part of a promotional piece must include risk 
information is legally untenable.  DDMAC argues by analogy to 21 C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(3), an 
advertising regulation promulgated by FDA in the early 1960s to implement 21 U.S.C. § 352(n) 
(the “true statement” requirement).  DDMAC’s position appears to be that each page of a multi-
page promotional piece must include some risk information, and that providing risk information 
(in the form of the complete package insert or a summary of the four risk-related sections of that 
insert) in one location is not sufficient under 21 U.S.C. § 352(a). 
 
This theory is untenable on the merits.  The pertinent statutory provision provides that a drug 
shall be deemed to be misbranded if its labeling is “false or misleading in any particular.”  21 
U.S.C. § 352(a).  FDA’s implementing regulations for this provision appear in 21 C.F.R. part 
201.  These provisions nowhere purport to require disclosure of risk information on each and 
every page of a multi-page visual aid.  Moreover, the advertising regulation on which DDMAC 
appears to rely clearly recognizes that qualifying information may appear concisely in each part 
of an advertisement if accompanied by a reference to more complete qualifying information 
elsewhere in the piece.  Here, 3M has included a reference to the complete risk information for 
the product in the flashcard. 
 
Even if DDMAC’s position were tenable, it would be invalid for procedural reasons.  At one 
time, FDA’s view was that promotional communications for prescription drugs had only to refer 
the reader to the location of complete risk information, which could appear on a separate page.  
See 50 Fed. Reg. 36,677 (1985) (“[T]he brief summary is intended to ensure a ‘fair balance’ 
between a drug’s potential benefits and risks in all prescription drug advertisements.”).  As of 
1996, the agency’s position had changed.  See 61 Fed. Reg. 48,708 (1996) (FDA “traditionally” 
has required risk information in the body of the advertisement).  FDA’s failure to use notice-and-
comment rulemaking or to provide a reasoned analysis justifying this change of position renders 
its current stance invalid.  See Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.,463 
U.S. 29, 42 (1983); Alaska Prof. Hunters Ass’n, Inc. v. Federal Aviation Admin., 177 F.3d 1030, 
1033-34 (D.C. Cir. 1999). 
 
DDMAC’s imposition of its interpretation without first going through notice-and-comment 
rulemaking is also inconsistent with FDA’s Good Guidance Practice requirements, and with the 
Administrative Procedure Act.  See 21 U.S.C. § 371(h) (requiring public participation and the 
opportunity for public comment on guidance documents that set forth an initial interpretation of a 
statute or regulation, changes in interpretation or policy that are of more than a minor nature, 
complex scientific issues, or highly controversial issues); 21 C.F.R. § 10.115(e) (FDA “may not 
use documents or other means of communication that are excluded from the definition of a 
guidance document to informally communicate new or different regulatory expectations to a 
broad public audience for the first time.”). 
 
Unsubstantiated Allegations of Misleadingness 
 
DDMAC interprets certain statements in the flashcard as claims of superiority.  It is not at all 
clear that, by saying that “Maxair Autohaler helps your patients breathe easier,” 3M is asserting 
that its product “helps patients breathe easier compared to other drugs,” as DDMAC contends.   
An equally valid interpretation is that an autohaler improves drug delivery for patients with poor 
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inhaler technique.  Practitioners, who are extremely sophisticated information consumers, would 
realize that the 3M flashcard claims only that the Maxair Autohaler is easier to use than 
traditional MDIs and not misinterpret the flashcard to mean that Maxair Autohaler is superior to 
a traditional MDI when the traditional MDI is used perfectly.   
 
As we have explained before, DDMAC has speech regulatory powers under the FDCA that are 
extremely broad and that have a tremendous impact on the public health.  DDMAC has a 
corresponding obligation to ensure that, in the exercise of its authorities, it does not run afoul of 
the First Amendment, which affords substantial protection for commercial speech.  Under these 
circumstances, we would hope and expect DDMAC to corroborate its own views about the 
meaning of claims before initiating regulatory action. 
 
Impermissible Ban on the Use of Clinical Studies in Promotion 
 
DDMAC objects to 3M’s statement that Maxair Autohaler is “The inhaler that’s easier to use and 
use correctly . . . Easier to teach . . .  Easier to use” because the “[n]one of the cited references 
were adequately designed to assess the proposed claims (e.g., none specified ease of use as the 
primary endpoint).”  DDMAC’s position that manufacturers may only cite clinical studies and 
other sources of information that meet FDA’s standards of study design not only harms the 
public health by keeping new scientific developments from health care practitioners, but also 
presents substantial questions under the First Amendment.  As a legal matter, a prescription drug 
manufacturer is entitled to make statements in its promotional materials based on sources of 
information that do not meet federal regulators’ definition of an adequate and well-controlled 
clinical investigation. 
 
Even if this does not meet DDMAC’s standards for a study adequately designed to assess the 
proposed claims, 3M has a First Amendment right to disseminate information about clinical 
investigations.  It is a bedrock of First Amendment law that the government may not ban speech 
based on its potential to mislead, if the speech is presented in a manner that is truthful and non-
misleading.  Allowing manufacturers to make promotional claims only if the claims are 
supported by FDA’s overly narrow view of substantial evidence essentially imposes a ban on 
using any clinical studies in promotional materials. The most obvious way for DDMAC to 
comply with this principle would be to allow sponsors to make promotional claims based on 
clinical investigations and on other sources of data and information so long as those claims are 
presented with any necessary disclaimers.  Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. 
Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557, 565 (1980) (“The State cannot regulate speech that poses no danger to 
the asserted state interest, nor can it completely suppress information when narrower restrictions 
on expression would serve its interest as well.”); Bates v. State Bar, 433 U.S. 350, 375 (1977) 
(“the preferred remedy is more disclosure, rather than less”).   
 
We have previously objected, in letters dated June 30, 2005 (Lidoderm), July 20, 2005 
(Survanta), August 25, 2005 (Nipent),  September 9, 2005 (Lumigan), September 27, 2005 
(Travatan), January 17, 2006 (Loprox), June 12, 2006 (ReFacto), and July 6, 2006 (Hydase and 
Zovirax) to DDMAC and OCBQ’s  issuance of warning and untitled letters stating that 
companies may not use clinical investigations or other sources of information in promotional 
materials unless DDMAC or OCBQ has determined that these sources are satisfactory.  DDMAC 
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clearly has an established practice and policy of banning any statements, even if truthful and 
non-misleading, that are based on clinical investigations that DDMAC deems inadequate. 
 
Unconstitutional Refusal to Accept Disclaimers  
 
DDMAC objects to the picture of the lung deposition of radio-labeled drug, stating that there is 
no clinical evidence that Maxair Autohaler helps patients breathe easier by increasing drug lung 
deposition.  DDMAC notes that 3M includes a disclaimer beside the image that states, “The 
clinical significance of lung deposition data is unknown,” but says that the disclaimer “does not 
mitigate these misleading presentations.”   
 
To the extent that any statement about data from a study is potentially misleading, the First 
Amendment entitles the manufacturer to use, and requires DDMAC and OCBQ to accept, 
disclaimers sufficient to ensure that the statement is truthful and non-misleading.  See Pearson v. 
Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 657-58 (D.C. Cir. 1999), reh’g denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999) 
(FDA may not simply ban claims that are not supported by “significant scientific agreement,” 
but must instead consider whether the disclaimers will make the claims not misleading).  3M’s 
flashcard contains a clear disclaimer noting that the clinical significance of lung drug deposition 
is unknown.  That disclaimer is located directly beside the image in question.  In deeming 3M’s 
obvious disclaimer unacceptable and thereby signaling that no disclaimer would be sufficient, 
DDMAC has infringed on 3M’s First Amendment right to disseminate information by not 
allowing the use of disclaimers to ensure that a statement is non-misleading. 
 
Inappropriate Issuance of a Warning Letter 
 
We question the appropriateness of issuing a warning letter in this case.  FDA’s Regulatory 
Procedures Manual § 4.1.1 (March 2006) 
(http://www.fda.gov/ora/compliance_ref/rpm/pdf/ch4.pdf) states that “Warning Letters are 
issued only for violations of regulatory significance”—that is, “violations that may lead to 
enforcement action if not promptly and adequately corrected.”  In contrast, untitled letters cite 
violations that do not meet the threshold of regulatory significance. 
 
The warning letter to 3M refers to a single flashcard intended for use by field personnel in 
discussions with health care practitioners.  In previous cases involving omission of risk 
information in a single, non-DTC piece, DDMAC has not issued a warning letter.  For example, 
on November 2, 2005, DDMAC issued an untitled letter to ISTA Pharmaceuticals alleging that a 
professional journal advertisement for Vitrase did not include material facts.  Similarly, on July 
15, 2005, DDMAC sent an untitled letter to Abbott Laboratories alleging that a direct mailer for 
Survanta® omitted risk information and made unsubstantiated effectiveness claims.  It is hard to 
understand why DDMAC chose to send a warning letter to 3M in similar circumstances. 
 
WLF has noticed that nearly all of the enforcement letters DDMAC has issued this year are 
warning letters and not untitled letters.  As of November 9, 2006, DDMAC had posted 32 letters 
on its website, 25 of which were warning letters and 7 of which were untitled letters.  WLF is 
concerned that DDMAC is styling all of its letters as warning letters to create the impression in 
some cases that the alleged violations are much more serious than they truly are.  WLF requests 
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that DDMAC comply with its own procedures and issue warning letters only for violations of 
regulatory significance.  We submit that this is not such a case. 
 
No Authority to Seek Corrective Advertising 
 
DDMAC does not have the statutory authority to request that 3M disseminate “corrective” 
advertising.  The FDCA does not include the authority to request “corrective” messages as one of 
the agency’s enforcement tools.  21 U.S.C. § 331 et seq.  We have previously advised DDMAC 
that its requests for corrective promotional messages are unauthorized, unconstitutional, and 
imprudent, but we have received no response.  We object to DDMAC’s continuing policy of 
requesting that pharmaceutical companies engage in “corrective” advertising without pointing to 
the statutory basis for these requests.  We again request that you address our concerns in writing. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
We urge DDMAC to withdraw the warning letter sent to 3M.  We further request that you cease 
the issuance of warning and untitled letters that raise the same problematic issues as those 
described above.  
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
cc:  Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 
 
 
 


